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Abstract

The No. 5 Elevator and the Port of Montreal: Monument in a Shifting Landscape
Nathalie H. Senécal

The No. 5 terminal elevator in the port of Montreal is the last of a group of colossal
machines for moving and storing grain that once lined the waterfront in front of Old
Montreal. The terminal elevators of the port of Montreal were the culmination-point of
the national infrastructures of grain shipping that helped to make Montreal the most
important grain-exporting port in the world during the 1920s and 1930s.

Built and expanded in stages between 1903 and 1958, elevator No. 5 was
ultimately shut down in the winter of 1994. Since then, it has remained unused within the
setting of the “Vieux Port” — the beautified and reclaimed harbour land relandscaped for
leisure and tourism and opened in 1992 to coincide with Montreal’s 350" anniversary.

The public dialogue over what can or should be done with a derelict structure of
this scale and nature has evolved into an exploration of the artistic and civic possibilities
of an obsolete industrial structure. This thesis is a "critical biography” of this building. It
traces its built and iconographic history, examines its role in the changing landscape of
the port, and delves into the issues of perception, preservation and interpretation of

elevator No. 5.



Ce travail est dédié a 1a mémoire d’Hubert Senécal (1936-1998)
et de Jacques Senécal (1901-2000).
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Introduction

Evolving over a span of fifty years, the No. 5 terminal grain elevator in the port of
Montreal is an ensemble of three structures that span nearly a mile in length and
reach up to 12 storeys in height. Together these buildings form an immense
machine for receiving, storing, and moving grain. The first sections of the
elevator bore the name “B” and were built for the Grand Trunk Railway by the
engineer John S. Metcalf, beginning in 1903; the final element of the group was
added by the engineering firm of C.D. Howe in 1958. Elevator “B” was acquired
by the Montreal Harbour Commission in 1923 and later re-named elevator No. 5,
in sequence with the port of Montreal’s other terminal elevators.

The terminal elevators of the port of Montreal were the culmination point of
a vast network of smaller rural elevators, roads, canals, and railroads that made up
the national infrastructures of grain shipping which helped to make Montreal the
most important grain-exporting port in the world during the 1920s and 1930s. In
this urban context, these machines represented a massive interruption in the scale
and nature of the built environment of the city. In consequence, the relationship
between the elevators and the citizens of Montreal has been equivocal from the
beginning.

The grain trade was a major source of revenue for the Port and for the City

of Montreal until its gradual decline in the 1970s. In the winter of 1994, the Port

of Montreal closed elevator No. 5. From that moment until recently, the elevator



has stood empty, its fate in question. What can or should be done with a derelict
structure of this scale and nature? This issue has become a problem for the
elevator’s owners, for its institutional and residential neighbours, for the
advocates of its preservation, and those calling for its demolition.

Montreal’s harbour exemplifies the late 20%-century transition from a
landscape of industry to a landscape of leisure. From the late 19" century to the
mid-20™ century, a series of major Public Works projects radically re-shaped the
city’s waterfront, creating a complex system composed of large-scale structures
for shipping and storage. In the span of a century, five terminal grain elevators
were built on Montreal’s waterfront, three in the harbour facing Old Montreal and
two more in the recently developed eastern sector of the port. In 2001, elevator
No. 5 is only extant terminal elevator in the historic harbour.

The intent of this thesis is to give a brief history of the evolution of the
port of Montreal and the construction of its elevators, to reconstruct the changes
in the physical landscape surrounding the No. 5 and to examine the issues of
perception, preservation, and interpretation of this “monument.”

At the end of the 19" century, the grain elevator was an entirely new and
distinctly North American building form. Although it was designed by engineers
and its form evolved through imperatives of function rather than style, the
elevator has been introduced into the canon of architectural history. However, the
issues affecting elevator No. 5’s current situation fall outside the frame of
traditional architectural history, which is predicated on the intentions of the

architect and the reception of their work. Landscape history and theory offer



wider views of the changing cultural meaning of place and the active role of the
public in place-making that is essential to understanding the problem of elevator
No. 5. The writings of John B. Jackson, Denis Cosgrove and M. Christine Boyer
have been particularly useful in this study.

Chapter One examines the political and economic factors that shaped the
physical landscape of the port of Montreal in the 19™ and 20™ centuries. First
among these are the interactions between the Port of Montreal’s governing body,
the Harbour Commission, the federal government, and the national railway
companies, the Canadian Pacific Railway and the Grand Trunk Railway. This
context provides the setting for the process of the design, construction, and
function of the Grand Trunk Railway’s “B” and the four other terminal elevators
in the port. This chapter also maps the progressive differentiation and the eventual
polarisation between the lands of the Port and the City.

Certain distinctions must be noted in this chapter and after: “port”
describes the physical site and its function, while “Port” charaterizes the Port of
Montreal, the managing organization instituted in 1936 to replace the Harbour
Commission. The word “harbour” describes the waterfront lands between Berri
Street and the western entrance to the Lachine Canal, the historic centre of
maritime commercial activity in Montreal.

Chapter Two considers the development of the iconography of the grain
elevator and its influence on public perception of the machine’s form, function
and context. The striking phenomena of the colossal machine was interpreted for

commercial, artistic, and propagandist purposes. During the first decades of the



20" century, commercially-produced images of grain elevators played an
important role in inspiring a fascination for the display of technological
expression of “modern” life for a generation of Montreal artists. Postcards of
North American industrial buildings, including grain elevators, travelled the
world and were received and appropriated by a generation of young architects in
Europe.

The late 20™ century has brought about significant changes in the
economic and spatial organization of North American cities, triggered by the
progressive shift away from an economy of production to one of consumption.
The change can be measured through the transformation of the built environment
of Montreal, as the structures and infrastructures of industry have been converted,
recycled or simply erased. Chapter Three examines the transfer of the isolated
industrial harbour lands into a civic and touristic parkland, as the port was
transformed into the Vieux-Port. The process of reclaiming the port’s territory for
the city began as a grassroots movement and grew into an active public
involvement in the business of place-making. This process and the eventual
design of the Vieux-Port illustrate the difficult relationship of industrial heritage
and the post-modern landscape.

Chapter Four outlines the events following the shut-down of elevator No.
5 in 1994. The ambiguous presence of the abandoned "Machine in the Garden" of
the Vieux-Port sparked an unprecedented dialogue over the fate of the terminal
elevator among the Port representatives, preservationists, and citizens. In the

intervening years, these discussions have moved from the possibilities of



recycling and re-use to solutions predicated on the radical idea of a structure
valued for its obsolescence.

This critical biography of the elevator examines the current situation and
records for future reference the architectural and landscape history of terminal
elevator No. 5 — the subject of an unprecedented exploration of the possibilities of

this “unconscious monument.”



Chapter One
The Industrial Landscape
The apt epigramatic description of Canada as “The Empire’s
Granary” has been followed by the equally happy designation of
Montreal as the “Spout of the Granary.”

The Book of Montreal, 1903 !

Now began, with construction of Elevator No. 1, the building of
the great grain elevators that are the most obvious feature of
Montreal Harbour. Their towering height, the shapeless size, with
no proportion to the sight or scene they occupy, make them, to the
eye of art, a blot on the landscape, a disfigurement of nature’s
work.... In any case they mean so much to the life and industry of
Canada, to the life line of imperial safety, that the eye that looks on
them becomes trained to a new adjustment.
Stephen Leacock, 1942 2

The port of Montreal was the primary gateway of trans-Atlantic trade in
19" and early 20"-century Canada. As such, the port was also the engine of
Montreal’s commercial and industrial expansion during this period. This chapter
considers the political and economic frame that surrounds the development of the
port of Montreal in the 19% and 20" centuries and its evolution as a separate

landscape within the city during this period. The progressive construction of

' Ernest Chambers, The Book of Montreal, A Souvenir of Canada’s Commercial Metropolis
(Montreal: The Book of Montreal Company, 1903), 81.

2 Stephen, Leacock, Montreal, Seaport and City (Garden City, New York: Doubleday, Doran &
Company, 1942), 241.



elevator No. 5, conducted over half a century, serves as the focus for the genesis

of Montreal’s network of terminal elevators, the “Spout of the Granary.”

Policy, capital and the creation of a separate space

In 1985, joining the debate over the future Montreal’s waterfront, architect and
historian Jean-Claude Marsan remarked that the harbour could never for a
moment in its urban history have been considered a pastoral landscape.’ From the
city’s beginnings, the waterfront had had an open but resolutely commercial
character, which over time would harden into an industrial zone, an anti-urban
enclave on the city’s doorstep.

Montreal was the furthest inland point that Atlantic ocean-going vessels
could reach in North America before transferring their cargo onto the smaller
vessels, or barges that navigate the canals and the Great Lakes. This privileged
position as gateway between the interior of North America and Europe was
assured through a series of projects designed to counteract the river’s natural
impediments. A shipping channel was dredged out of the St. Lawrence River in
order to avoid the rough waters of St-Mary’s current, east of the harbour. The
longstanding project to circumvent the Lachine Rapids, was realized with the

completion of the Lachine Canal in 1825. The twelve-kilometre long shipping

3 Jean-Claude Marsan. Sauver Montréal, Chroniques d'architecture et d 'urbanisme (Montreal:
Les éditions du Boréal, 1990), 189.



canal manned with seven sets of hydraulic locks was the first of the great
infrastructure projects to transform the harbour of Montreal.*

The canal provided Montreal with the trade and transportation link to an
evolving national system of waterways along the Saint Lawrence River and the
Great Lakes, including the Welland canal (opened 1829), Rideau Canal (1843),
and the Long Sault canal (1843). This system was designed to compete with New
England’s Erie canal (also completed in 1825), the waterway that connected the
port of New York City to the Great Lakes, for the traffic of Canadian and
American goods, particularly grain, bound for Atlantic seaports. The eastern
entrance of the Lachine Canal opened onto Montreal’s waterfront, confirming the
city-front harbour as a natural trans-shipment site. Montreal’s entrepreneurs
quickly recognized and then capitalized on the great gift of the city’s geography
by building temporary wooden wharves on the muddy slope of the waterfront, to
help smooth the passage of their goods and passengers.’

Soon after the opening of the Lachine Canal, the federal government
asserted its control over the future development of the harbour (Fig. 1, Fig. 2).
The legal character and physical limits of the port of Montreal were established in

1830 with the founding of the Montreal Harbour Commission by order of the

4 The project was initiated by a group of prominent Montreal businessmen but completed under
the direction of the government of Lower Canada. The canal was deepened and widened in 1836~
37 and again in 1848. For a brief but concise history of the development of the Lachine Canal, see
Jean Bélisle et al., Regard sur un paysage industriel (Montreal: Centre Canadian d’Architecture/
Canadian Centre for Architecture, 1992), 9-19.

5 The wharves and sheds on the waterfront were removed in the fall and rebuilt in the spring after
the ice had melted. Jean-Claude Marsan, Montréal en Evolution:historique du développement de
I'architecture et de | 'environnement urbain montréalais, 3rd ed. (Montreal: Editions du Méridien,
1994), 165.



Province of Lower Canada.® The Commission was a civil corporation whose
mission was to manage the modernization of the city’s harbour according to the
plans drawn by Captain Robert Piper of the Royal Corps of Engineers, one of the
three members of the new Harbour Commission.” After several boundary
modifications, the Commission’s legal and territorial authority was established
and described as follows:

The Commissioners hold in trust all harbour lands and areas from

the Government of Canada and develop and administer according

to the authority received from his excellency the Governor General

of Canada, in council. The jurisdiction of the Harbour

Commissioners extends to the whole of the river St Lawrence, with

the exception of the ship channel, from Bout de I’Isle to above the

Victoria Bridge, a distance of 17 miles. This area comprises all the

land under water and the beaches up to the high water mark,

including the whole of I'Isle Ronde.®

The Commission’s authority gave it the power to borrow capital to carry
out major projects, to own buildings and equipment, to sign leases and other
contracts with railways, industries, and businesses as well as to contract with
engineers and builders. Perhaps more importantly, the Commission acted as

mediator between representatives of the city’s business class and the federal

government. In this capacity, the Commission could propose improvements

¢ Chambers, Book of Montreal, 84.

7 The other members of the first Harbour Commission were the Hon. George Moffat and Jules
Quesnel. [bid.

8 Report on the Works for the Improvement and Maintenance of the Harbour of Montreal for the
Year 1911, 6-7. APM. The territory of the Port of Montreal has been revised several times since
and now encompasses the waterfront lands of Montreal’s south shore up to and including the city
of Sorel.
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suggested by local concerns and negotiate leases for storage space on the port’s
wharves and waterfront land.

Responding to the increasing demand for greater local influence over the
affairs of the port, the federal government modified the composition of the
Harbour Commission in 1894, expanding it to a body of eleven members,
answerable to the federal Minister of Public Works. Four Commissioners were
named from the city’s trade and shipping business organizations: the Board of
Trade, la Chambre de Commerce, the Corn Exchange, and the Shipping
Federation.” The Mayor of Montreal served as an ex-officio commissioner.'®

The presence of a single elected official on the Harbour Commission gave
the citizens of Montreal as whole only a nominal voice in the affairs of the port
and none at all in the reshaping of their waterfront. Politically, the port was a

separate zone in the city. Civic and national democracies were outweighed by a

consensus of self-interest between government policy and local industrialists.'"

% The Board of Trade represented the interests of the Anglophone business community and was by
far the most influential organization in the Commission. In 1894, la Chambre de commerce was
the newly recognised francophone equivalent to the Board of Trade. The Corn Exchange
represented the city’s grain brokers and millers, while members of the Shipping Federation were
among the port’s most important tenants.

10 The first criteria for the selection of Harbour Commissioners was involvement in a commercial
enterprise. The membership was typically comprised of successful and influential businessmen
who were equally active in politics and banking. For a description of the complex network of
social, political, and economic relationships of Montreal’s business community, see Gerald J.
Tulchinsky, The River Barons, Montreal Businessmen and the Growth of Industry and
Transportation, [1837-1953, (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1977).

! The complex associations between public office, industry, and the management of the port are
well illustrated in the career of Robert MacKay, Chairman of the Harbour Commission from 1898
to 1910. MacKay was a major shareholder in industries such as the Montreal Rolling Mills; he was
director of Montreal Gas Co., the Merchant’s Manufacturing Co., the Dominion Transportation
Co., the Royal Victoria life Insurance Co. and was Vice-President of the Bell Telephone Co.
During his tenure as Chairman of the Harbour Commission, MacKay ran for federal office
unsuccessfully in the district of Montreal West. Henry James Morgan, ed.
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In his study on the development of the port at the beginning of the 20"
century, historian Paul-André Linteau remarked that the growth of the port of
Montreal played an important role in the success of the “national policy” of
development at the beginning of the 20™ century. This success was intimately tied
to the interests of Montreal’s grande bourgeoisie.'?

In Montreal, the construction of three immense terminal grain elevators
near the heart of the city was the clear expression of the conjuncture of interests
of national transportation policy and industrial capitalism. The history of elevator
No. 5 is a built record of the relationship between the government, railroads, and

trans-Atlantic commerce, as well as the strong influence of local capitalists over

site, size, technology, and profit.

Systems: the railways and terminal elevators

Between 1896 and 1914, the port of Montreal was literally re-shaped into 2
modenm facility capable of accommodating the rapid evolution of the
transportation network (Fig.3). In response to the energetic lobbying of the
Harbour Commission, an agreement concluded between the Commission, the City

Corporation and the federal government provided funding for extensive

Men and Women of the Time, a Handbook of Canadian Biography (Toronto: William Briggs,
1898), 697. As Robert Chodos has shown in his revision of the myth of the CPR, The CPR, 4
Century of Corporate Welfare (Toronto: James Lewis and Samuels, Publishers, 1973), the
potential for conflict of interest between the public and private spheres was a largely uncontested
fact of life in the era of the great infrastructure projects.

12 payl-André Linteau, “Le développement du Port de Montréal au début du 20iéme siécle”
Historical Papers/ Communications historiques (1972): 203.
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modernization of all aspects of the port’s functioning."* Above all, modemization
implied the elimination of natural barriers to navigation on the St. Lawrence. An
imposing stone retaining wall was built parallel to de la Commune Street to
protect the city from annual spring flooding. Built of heavy blocks of limestone,
the retaining wall echoed the massing of the French regime defences that had
once surrounded the city; it was the first tangible barrier erected between the City
and the Port. Improvements to the harbour involved continued dredging of the
shipping channel between the harbour and Lac St-Pierre, and deepening the
harbour basin. The construction of immense permanent piers insured
accommodation for the length and deep drafts of the new trans-Atlantic vessels as
well as providing the site for new permanent storage sheds.'* Using infill dredged
from the river, the new piers and the harbourfront lands were raised several
meters above their previous height, bringing the harbour lands to the level of de la
Commune Street and erasing the traditional slope from the city to the water.

In 1902, Comelius Van Homne, a prominent citizen of Montreal and
chairman of the Canadian Pacific Railroad (CPR), commented that “Canada has
been adding sides to her hopper for a long time, but has neglected to enlarge the

spout.”'® Van Home’s statement reflected the intimate relationship between the

'3 This agreement was made official by an act of parliament on June 13, 1898. The Dominion
government lent the Harbour Commission $2,000,000 to implement a programme of
“improvements.” Chambers, Book of Montreal, 87.

¥ The piers were built in succession: the Jacques Cartier pier (1898 to 1899), Alexandra (1899-
1901), King Edward (1901-1902), followed by the Victoria pier in 1910.

15 As cited in Norman R. Ball, ed., Building Canada. A History of Public Works (Toronto:
University of Toronto Press, 1988), 94.
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railway companies and the growth of the grain trade in Canada. His analogies
referred to the great grain production boom in the prairie provinces following the
completion of the railroad, and the corresponding paucity of grain transportation,
storage and transfer structures to manage its export.16

The project of uniting the country by rail, a condition of Confederation,
and was a political and economic endeavour carried out by the CPR, a private
company subsidized by public money. Completed in 1885, the railway was to link
east and west for travel and trade, and thus to strengthen the young nation’s sense
of identity and community. The project’s parallel objective was the transportation
of immigrant homesteaders to the prairies and a fast and reliable system for
removing the grain they produced to eastern seaports for export. With the
introduction of the Crow’s Nest Pass accords in 1897, the federal government
promised to subsidize the improvement of the CPR’s western rail network in
exchange for the reduction of the railway’s tariffs on grain transportation from all
points west and all points east of Port Arthur and Fort William, the Lake Ontario
ports known as the “Lakehead.”'” The “Crow rates” made the price of shipping
grain through Canada competitive with the American system and allowed the

CPR to consolidate its dominance of the grain-handling system.

18 Eor an overview of the politics of harbour improvements before the turn of the 19" century, see
Pierre Brouillard, “Le dévloppement du Port de Montréal, 1850-1896” (M.A. thesis, Université du
Québec & Monréal, 1976).

'7 C.F. Wilson, A Century of Canadian Grain, Government Policy to 1951 (Saskatoon: Western
Producer Prairie Books, 1978), 5.
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However, the system’s weakness, as Van Home suggested, was in the lack
of storage and transfer structures at the end of the network. Canadian ports were
decades behind American ports in the development of technology for the fast and
safe transfer of bulk grain through terminal elevators.

Prior to 1884, there existed only one grain elevator in the port of Montreal,
a 600 000 bushel wooden structure situated on the eastern end of Windmill Point,
operated by the Montreal Warehousing Company, a subsidiary of the Grand
Trunk Railway. '® Grain was transferred from ship to ship by a small fleet of
privately-owned floating elevators.!® Montreal’s lack of grain-handling facilities
was understood to be an impediment not only to the port’s fortunes, but aiso to the
Canadian trade network as whole, as high shipping tariffs and insufficient storage
and handling systems meant that much of Canada’s grain had to be handled by
American ports. The construction of grain elevators became a priority, and an
1884 report confirms that the Commissioners looked to the railway companies as
the natural choice for a partner in this new venture:

One of the most important steps taken in the interest of the harbour

is the lease of land made by the Commissioners to the Canadian

Pacific Railway for the erection of elevators. A lease has been

agreed upon for fifty years at a nominal rental, but should the land

not be used for elevator purposes it is to revert to the Harbour
Commissioners. The Commissioners hope that the building of

'8 The wooden elevator known as “C” was built by the Montreal Warehousing Company in 1872
on the western end of Windmill Point. The “C” was sold to the Ogilvie Flour Mills in 1913 for
$142.500.00. APM, Montreal Warehousing Co. Prospectus, 1916, no pages.

1% A fleet of eighteen floating elevators was owned by the Montreal Grain Elevating Co.
Incorporated in 1857, the company handled all of the ship to ship transfer of grain in the port of
Montreal prior to the construction of the first wooden elevators. Chambers, Book of Montreal,
108.



15

these elevators will give the port the grain trade of our north-west,

and also insure a reasonable stock in port, especially before the

canals open, which will induce more shipping to come to the

harbour. 2

The prosaic timber-frame structures, elevators “A” and “B,” were built in
1884 and 1885 in the eastern section of the harbour, near the CPR’s passenger
terminal, Dalhousie Station. The same year, the CPR constructed two similar
wooden terminal elevators, also known as “A” and *“B”, at Port Arthur, Ontario
(now Thunder Bay), the company’s train-to-ship transfer point on Lake Ontario.
This ensured its control over almost every aspect of the handling and shipping of
bulk grain in Canada.?! However, despite their gigantic size against the low
Montreal skyline, these structures were judged to be insufficient and obsolete by

1895 (Fig.4).

The transfer of technology

The year 1898 signalled the beginning of a radical change in the landscape
Montreal’s port. The signing of the Crow’s Nest Pass Accords, lowering the
shipping tariffs on Canadian grain complemented the Harbour Commission’s
successful petition for government funds to modernize the port and its

infrastructures.

2 Annual Report, 1884, 5. APM.

2! This monopoly was short-lived. Financial constraints forced the CPR to abandon the idea of
building its own network of country and terminal elevators. Milling companies, farmers’
cooperatives, and individuals built the country elevators. Competing railways, port authorities, and
grain shipping companies controlled the terminal elevators. Wilson, Canadian Grain, 13.
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While the impetus for the construction of terminal elevators in the port of
Montreal was driven by the commercial nationalism of the east-west rail link, the
transfer of expertise and technology created a second, north-south axis between
Montreal and rival American grain ports.

In this period, engineers become influential players in shaping the
morphology of the 20™-century port. When they looked to expand the port’s
grain-handling facilities, a decade after the construction of the CPR’s elevators,
the Harbour Commissioners were fully aware of the importance of modern grain
elevators. The modernization of the port’s permanent structures, the wharves and
piers, had been undertaken in anticipation of a new generation of shipping
infrastructure, and new grain elevators were a determining factor in the re-
organization of the port. [n 1897, 27,045,560 bushels of grain had been handled
by the floating and railway elevators. It was clear that, with the implementation of
the Crow Rates, this system would not able to handle the increasing flow of grain
moving through Canada’s network. Harbour Commissioner John Torrance
reported to his colleagues that the Montreal grain trade was strongly in favour of
new elevators, “but as to who should build them, he was not so sure.”?
Montreal’s ambitious plans and its potential as a major grain-handling

centre had not gone unnoticed. In December 1898, the Commission received an

unsolicited letter from John S. Metcalf, a Chicago-based engineer whose firm

2 upracés Verbaux,” December 27, 1898, 86, APM.
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specialized in the design and construction of grain elevators, requesting the
opportunity to tender bids on future grain elevator projects.23

The Harbour Commissioners would eventually call for bids on a “modern
steel elevator.” Their understanding of the qualities of a modem grain elevator,
their insistence on the use of steel, and their choice of engineers and builders for
these first projects was the result of a tour of Montreal’s rival ports in the northern
United States. In January1899, a group of Montreal Harbour Commissioners, a
representative of the Minister of Public Works, members of the Corn Exchange,
and the Port’s chief engineer, John Kennedy, visited the ports of Portland
(Maine), Boston, New York, Philadelphia, Baltimore, Newport News,
Washington, and Buffalo. The tour had been organized to allow the
Commissioners to assess their competition and observe examples of modern
infrastructure that could serve the Port of Montreal. In Buffalo, the delegation
from Montreal was introduced to both the latest technology in grain-handling and

to those who controlled it.

The elevators

In 1899, the grain elevator was on the verge of the next step in its formal
evolution, reinforced concrete. Buffalo is the recognized birthplace of this
technology. In a paper presented to the Buffalo Historical Society in March of
1865, entrepreneur Joseph Dart, the credited inventor of the grain elevator,

explained the process by which he had modified an existing patent for a steam

B hid.
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powered continuous conveyor belt affixed with grain scoops, by integrating the
system into a mobile mechanical “leg” that could be lowered into the hold of a
ship to scoop up its contents and transfer it directly into storage bins. Dart tested
his invention in a simple wooden storage structure with a capacity of 55,000
bushels, that he built on the Buffalo Creek in 1842. Its success was such that,
within 20 years of its construction, there were 27 colossal grain elevators on the
Buffalo waterfront.?*

Over a hundred years later, architectural critic and historian Reyner
Banham made the first serious study of the form and function of the grain elevator
in his 1986 book 4 Concrete Atlantis. Noting that “what makes an elevator an
elevator is not that it occupies a particular building form, but that is has
machinery for raising the grain to the top of the storage vessels,” Banham
reasoned that Dart’s true contribution was not architecture, but the perfection of 2
system, a machine for moving grain. Banham also remarked that while the
technology was new, the early wooden elevator buildings were simply functional
adaptations of vernacular warehouse sheds. 2

One of the factors that would drive the formal evolution of the grain
elevator well into the first decades of the 20" century was the danger of
explosions. The volatility of grain dust in the presence of sparking machinery

gave the average wooden elevator a life span of about 12 years.

 Joseph Dart explained the history of grain elevating technology in paper read before the Buffalo
Historical Society, March 13, 1865.

 Reyner Banham, 4 Concrete Atlantis, U.S. Industrial Building and European Modern
Architecture, 1900-1925 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, 1986), 109.
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Engineers and architects experimented with “fire proof” materials such as
steel, brick, and concrete, looking for the material that possessed sufficient
compressive strength and elasticity to allow for both efficient rationalization of
storage and handling space, and structural integrity. Just before the turn of the 19™
century, many of the advances made in the structural design of the grain elevator
were illustrated on the Buffalo Creek.

Like Montreal, Buffalo’s strength lay in its geography. Situated at the
juncture between the Great Lakes and the Erie Canal, Buffalo was the inevitable
trans-shipment point for American and Canadian grain destined for the port of
New York. By 1899, Joseph Dart’s wooden structures had long since been
replaced with a new generation of elevators, the latest of which was the steel
“Electric Elevator”, built circa 1897.%° The Buffalo press observed the reactions
of the Montreal visitors:

The party visited the Eames Electric elevator first. The electric

machinery, the compressed air system and the group of great iron

receiving tanks at this elevator were a source of wonder to the

visitors. They had never seen an elevator like this one before. The

engineer Kennedy at first was of the opinion that such a radical

departure from the generally accepted plan for elevators could not

be a success. But he changed his mind after Mr. Urban explained

the system in detail. The party next visited the Great Northern
elevator ...

* Ibid., 124.

7 «“Montreal aspires to be the great grain shipping port of the western world,” The Buffalo Daily
Express, January 21, 1899, “Newspaper Clippings,” APM.
















































































































































































































































































































































